Filed 03-24-2023

Page 1 of 45

FILED 03-24-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP002012-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ROSS STRAIGHT,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Grant County Circuit Court the Honorable Craig R. Day, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LAURA M. FORCE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1095655

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440 forcel@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to request the "self-defense" instruction, WIS JI-CRIMINAL 800, as to count two, the charge of disorderly conduct against C.G., 1 contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1)?

At the postconviction motion hearing, trial counsel testified that he decided not to raise self-defense as to the disorderly conduct charge because he believed a different defense was better. The circuit court concluded that trial counsel made a reasonable strategic decision when he declined to raise self-defense.

2. Did trial counsel's trial strategy as to the disorderly conduct charge violate Mr. Straight's Sixth Amendment right to choose the objective of his defense when he overrode Mr. Straight's desire to claim self-defense and instead presented an invalid defense to the charge?

At the postconviction motion hearing, trial counsel testified that his intended defense to the disorderly conduct charge was that the alleged victim,

¹ Count 1 of the complaint charged Mr. Straight with disorderly conduct against another individual. (2:1-3; 35). The jury found Mr. Straight not guilty on count 1. (35). Therefore, as Mr. Straight's appeal does not raise any challenge to the dismissal of count 1, this brief will refer only to count 2, disorderly conduct as related to C.G.

C.G. caused the disturbance. The circuit court concluded that this was a valid defense.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Straight welcomes oral argument on this issue if the court would find it helpful to deciding the questions posed by this appeal. This matter involves the application of legal principles, specifically applicability of the affirmative defense of "self-defense" in disorderly conduct cases. This issue has not been fully considered by appellate courts, and therefore, Mr. Straight requests publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 8, 2021, Mr. Straight was at a friend's property when the alleged victim in this case, C.G., got out of her car, armed with a machete, and approached him. (52:154, 191). Mr. Straight hit C.G., knocking her to the ground, and straddled her. (52:154-55, 157). He then wrestled the machete away from C.G., held her down, and raised the knife over her. (2:3; 52:155, 194). Mr. Straight's friend yelled at him to stop, and he got up, left the machete on the ground near her, and walked away. (2:3; 52:155, 194, 196).

Before the trial, defense counsel filed proposed jury instructions requesting instruction 1220A – Battery: Self-Defense in Issue, and

instruction 1900 – Disorderly Conduct. (26:2). Mr. Straight proceeded to a jury trial on January 21, 2022. (52:1). After jury selection, the circuit court addressed the issue of self-defense, asking defense counsel to briefly describe how self-defense was going to play into the circumstances of the case. (52:68). Defense counsel stated that the self-defense argument pertained only to the battery charge. (52:69).

The state called five witnesses: William Danehy, C.G., Eric Brechler, Matthew Whipple and Daniel Reuter. (52:4).²

Mr. Danehy testified that both he and Mr. Straight were at Eric Brechler's property on October 8, 2021. (52:108). Mr. Danehy was on the porch and Mr. Straight was in the yard when C.G. pulled up. Mr. Danehy saw C.G. walk toward Mr. Straight with a knife in her hand. (52:113). Then, Mr. Straight hit C.G. and knocked the knife and a bottle, which they later discovered to be Fireball whiskey, out of her hands. (52:110). He testified that he stood up to see what was going on over the porch railing, and saw Mr. Straight with the knife. (52:111). Mr. Danehy then walked to the street to get the fire number and called the police. (52:110-11).

Next, C.G. testified that she had known Mr. Straight for about a month prior to the incident in question, and that she had been struggling with addiction and the death of her husband. (52:118-20).

² The state also called the alleged victim in Count 1 to testify.

C.G. testified she did not remember the incident. (52:123). C.G. also did not remember telling the police that she had gotten in a fight with Mr. Straight or getting out of her car holding a knife, but knew that she had been in pain when she was at the hospital after the incident. (52:123, 127).

Mr. Brechler testified that Mr. Straight and C.G. had come to his property and although they were fine at first, they "got into it a little bit." (52:150-52). He testified that he saw Mr. Straight hit C.G. on both sides of the head and knock a bottle of liquor out of her hand. (52:152).

At some point after that, Mr. Brechler saw C.G. come out of her car with a machete. (52:154). He stated that Mr. Straight "got enraged," grabbed C.G.'s wrist and "kind of spun her around and got her flopped on to the ground." (52:154). Mr. Straight took the machete away from C.G. and got on top of her. (52:154-55). Mr. Brechler began screaming Mr. Straight's name. (52:155). He saw Mr. Straight "turn the knife around... up above his head." (52:155). Then, after Mr. Brechler "storm[ed]" off his porch toward them to diffuse the situation, Mr. Straight dropped the machete. (52:155-56). C.G. retrieved the knife and took off in her car. (52:155).

³ Mr. Brechler first testified that Mr. Straight and C.G. left his property together after Mr. Straight hit her twice on the head and knocked the bottle out of her hand. (52:153-54). Mr. Brechler then testified that immediately after Mr. Straight hit C.G., she went to her vehicle and got the machete. (52:154).

Case 2022AP002012 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-24-2023 Page 12 of 45

The state then called two of the responding sheriff's deputies to testify, Matthew Whipple and Daniel Reuter. (52:163, 169). Deputy Whipple testified as to his conversation with C.G. when she was in an ambulance. (52:164). He described C.G. as having been crying and "pretty hysterical." (52:165). Whipple testified that C.G. told him, "her neck was squeezed" and it caused her pain. (52:165). Whipple observed some red marks on C.G.'s neck. (52:165). C.G. told Whipple at first that Mr. Straight "did it" and then later on that she wasn't sure who it was. (52:166). Whipple also recalled C.G. saying that she might have been in a vehicle crash and that she was "hurting everywhere." (52:167).

Sergeant Reuter testified that he interviewed Mr. Danehy and Mr. Brechler and confiscated several knives from C.G.'s car at the scene. (52:171). He also interviewed C.G. at the La Crosse County Jail the day following the incident, and she identified the "very large machete type knife" as the one she was holding at the time of the incident. (52:171). During his testimony, Reuter opened the knife to display it and then placed it back in its sheath. (52:172).

On cross examination, Reuter testified that the day was rainy and misty, that Mr. Danehy and Mr. Brechler would often drink on the porch, and that they had initially believed the bottle C.G. had was soda, not alcohol. (52:174-75). Reuter testified that Mr. Brechler's statement to law enforcement was that Mr. Straight and C.G. arrived back at the property separately prior to the confrontation with the knife.

Case 2022AP002012 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-24-2023 Page 13 of 45

(52:176). C.G. told Reuter that she did not want to press charges against Mr. Straight and did not wish to be considered a victim. (52:177). In addition, C.G. told him that she had been using meth and weed, was detoxing from heroin, had a seizure the night before, and had no idea how her car got crashed. (52:178).

Mr. Straight was the sole defense witness at trial. (52:4). He testified that he was standing outside near the porch when C.G. got out of her vehicle with a bottle of Fireball and a machete and walked toward him. (52:191). C.G. was "saying stuff to [him] and then she hit [him] with the machete in the shoulder." In response, Mr. Straight stated that he "grabbed her," she swung at him again, and the two then went to the ground together. (52:192). He had injuries as a result of this interaction. (52:192). Mr. Straight testified that he did not physically assault or push C.G. down in any way prior to C.G. approaching him with the machete. (52:193). Mr. Straight also testified that he thought he was going to be "severely harmed" because the machete could kill you, and he "was in fear [for his] life." (52:193-94).

Mr. Straight also described what he did after getting the machete away from C.G. He testified, "I was on top of her, you know, and then I gave it back..." (52:194). Mr. Straight explained that he took actions he believed necessary to defend himself against C.G. and "just tried to stop the attack from her." (52:194). Mr. Straight also testified that it was not his intention to harm C.G. (52:194).

At the jury instructions conference following the close of evidence, the circuit court addressed proposed the battery/self-defense changes to pattern instruction. (52:206-13). Trial counsel did not raise self-defense as to the disorderly conduct charge or request that the self-defense instruction be given generally as to Mr. Straight's interaction with C.G. (52:206-21).When the court brought up combination battery and self-defense instruction, Mr. Straight attempted to speak to his attorney. However, trial counsel did not listen to him, and both trial counsel and the court told Mr. Straight that he should not be talking. (52:206). Ultimately, the self-defense instruction was given as to the battery count alone. (52:225-26; 41:10-14).

In its closing argument, the state described the disorderly conduct charge as follows:

[D]isorderly conduct, what do we have here? We have the Defendant arguing with [C.G.]. People get in arguments. People who are in close relationships have disputes and arguments; that's one thing. But taking a machete that's 18 inches long and putting up against a woman's neck -- sorry about that -- is not acceptable. This is not acceptable behavior.

Is that the type of conduct that would tend to cause or provoke a disturbance? Absolutely. . . .

And then to hold it like this, straddling the woman, and have this weapon in your hand pointed down at her in this very heated situation, that's not tolerated in society. Not only is it not

right, it's illegal and you shouldn't be treating people that way.

(52:233-34). The state then reminded the jury that the self-defense instruction applied only to the battery charge. (52:234-35).

Trial counsel's closing argument focused primarily on the issue of self-defense. (52:247-49). As to the disorderly conduct charge, defense counsel argued that Mr. Straight was not guilty because it was C.G. who had behaved in a disorderly way and had provoked the resulting disturbance. Counsel also referenced the self-defense standard in the middle of his disorderly conduct argument.

As far as the disorderly conduct, it's [C.G.] who's behaving in a disorderly way, who is provoking this disturbance, not Mr. Straight. So, he is entitled to defend himself, certainly, and those actions are privileged under Wisconsin law.

And I would submit, ladies and gentlemen, that his actions weren't disorderly, that [C.G.]'s actions were. In fact, Mr. Straight committed no crime in what he was doing. Therefore, you should not convict him of a crime in that regard.

(52:249).

The jury found Mr. Straight guilty of disorderly conduct and not guilty of battery. (36, 37).

Mr. Straight filed a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request the self-defense instruction as to both counts rather than battery alone. (56:1; App. 5). The circuit court instructed postconviction counsel to file a brief related to a threshold issue prior to scheduling a *Machner*⁴ hearing. (58). Counsel filed a brief addressing the issues as requested by the court, and the court held a *Machner* hearing. (61; 72:1-3; App. 13-21, 22-24).

At the hearing, trial counsel testified that he did not intend to raise self-defense as to the disorderly conduct charge. (72:5; App. 26). Trial counsel explained he did not believe Mr. Straight had a valid self-defense claim as to the disorderly conduct because: "In self-defense you're entitled to terminate an unlawful interference with your person. But you're not entitled to retaliate once you've terminated the unlawful interference." (72:10; App. 31). He testified that he believed anything beyond Mr. Straight disarming C.G. became retaliation and was not force used to terminate the unlawful interference with his person because he believed the unlawful interference had ended. (72:10; App. 31).

Trial counsel's theory distinguished between the battery and the disorderly conduct. He believed that the disorderly conduct had begun only when the battery, and the associated claim of privilege, ended. (72:10-11; App. 31-32).

As to his closing argument, trial counsel explained that his statement related to self-defense in

⁴ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

the middle of his argument on disorderly conduct referred back to the battery argument. (72:5-9; App. 26-30). He testified that it did not have to do with his disorderly conduct argument, despite occurring in the middle of the disorderly conduct argument. (72:5-9; App. 26-30).

Trial counsel testified that he knew that disorderly conduct and battery can occur simultaneously. (72:10-11; App. 31-32). He also stated that he had reviewed the self-defense jury instruction prior to trial, and was very familiar with it. (72:12; App. 33). Trial counsel understood that more than one person can be disorderly at the same time. (72:13; App. 34). He also agreed that an attorney cannot concede any element of a crime without the client's consent.

However, trial counsel elected to raise, as the sole defense to the disorderly conduct charge, that it was C.G. who had caused the disturbance. (72:13; App. 34). He believed this was a "more sophisticated" argument in light of his take on the evidence. (73:10, 11; App. 31, 32). This was because trial counsel did not believe that the jury would acquit Mr. Straight on self-defense, despite it being a complete defense to disorderly conduct. (72:12-13; App. 33-34). Trial counsel did not believe he had conceded any element of disorderly conduct, despite the defense he raised. (72:18; App. 39).

> Trial counsel recalled the situation during the jury instructions conference at the close of evidence during which Mr. Straight attempted to talk to him. (72:18; App. 39). He did not recall what Mr. Straight was trying to say to him. (72:18-19; App. 39-40). However, trial counsel did recall that it was unimportant. (72:19; App. 40). He stated, "It was not important enough for me to recall what it was." (72:19; App. 40). He further testified, "I -- I spoke with Mr. Straight plenty. So, I think that was not the time for Mr. Straight to be bugging me about the trial." (72:19; App. 40). Trial counsel did not recall if he had asked Mr. Straight what he had wanted to say before the end of the jury instructions conference, but he did recall that, "It had nothing to do with any jury instructions." (72:19; App. 40).

> Mr. Straight testified that he went to trial believing he could be acquitted on all charges. (72:21; App. 42). He believed he would be claiming selfto both counts. defense as (72:22;App. 43). Mr. Straight recalled attempting to talk to his trial attorney during the jury instructions conference. (72:22; App. 43). He testified that, "I was trying to ask him why the self-defense wasn't applying -- being raised for the disorderly conduct, too." (72:22; App. 43). Mr. Straight further explained, "I was trying to make the -- with my lawyer. I mean, it's -- the lawyer is supposed to do what you want. And I wanted self-defense." (72:23; App. 44).

Case 2022AP002012 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-24-2023 Page 19 of 45

The circuit court concluded that trial counsel's strategy was not objectively unreasonable, and the strategy was owed great deference. (72:38; App. 59). Specifically, the court found that trial counsel's strategy was "that the defense to disorderly conduct was that it was not Mr. Straight who committed the disorderly conduct." (72:40: App. 61). The court further analyzed, "It is a legitimate argument to a disorderly conduct to say we didn't cause the disturbance, she caused the disturbance." (72:40). Therefore, the court denied Mr. Straight's postconviction motion. (72:42; 68; App. 63, 65).

This appeal follows. Additional facts will be discussed below as necessary.

ARGUMENT

- I. Trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to pursue a self-defense claim as to the disorderly conduct charge.
 - A. Legal principles and standard of review.
 - 1. Self-defense.

Whether an instruction should have been provided, the question "is not what the 'totality of evidence' reveals but rather, whether a reasonable construction of the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant will support the defendant's theory." *State v. Peters*, 2002 WI App 243, ¶27, 258

Wis. 2d 148, 653 N.W.2d 300 (citing *State v. Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 153, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977)).

"Self-defense" is an affirmative defense, and whether evidence supports the submission of this jury instruction is a question of law that an appellate court reviews de novo. *Peters*, 258 Wis. 2d 148, ¶12 (citing *State v. Mayhall*, 195 Wis. 2d 53, 57, 535 N.W.2d 473 (Ct. App. 1995). A circuit court errs when it refuses to provide an instruction supported by the evidence. *Id*.

If the circuit court declined to provide an instruction in error, a reviewing court must consider whether the substantial rights of the defendant have been affected. *Id*; Wis. Stat. § 805.18(2). If trial counsel failed to request the appropriate instruction, the error is reviewed under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel. *See State v. Langlois*, 2018 WI 73, ¶49, 382 Wis. 2d 414, 913 N.W.2d 812.

The legislature established the right to self-defense as follows:

A person is privileged to threaten or intentionally use force against another for the purpose of preventing or terminating what the person reasonably believes to be an unlawful interference with his or her person by such other person. The actor may intentionally use only such force or threat thereof as the actor reasonably believes is necessary to prevent or terminate the interference. The actor may not intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm unless the actor reasonably

Case 2022AP002012 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-24-2023 Page 21 of 45

believes that such force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself.

Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1). This statute, which is referred "perfect self-defense" is an affirmative all self-defense to crimes. except first-degree intentional homicide. The right to self-defense, as codified in § 939.48, applies, without limitation, to all crimes. However, the charged conduct must fall under the description of the privilege described in the statute—an individual "is privileged to threaten or intentionally use force against another."

A self-defense instruction must be given to the jury where a defendant has presented "some evidence" upon which a jury could find the defendant acted in self-defense. See State v. Johnson, 2021 WI 61, ¶17, 397 Wis. 2d 633, 961 N.W.2d 18. "A jury must be instructed on self-defense when a reasonable jury could find that a prudent person in the position of the defendant under the circumstances existing at the time of the incident could believe that he was exercising the privilege of self-defense." Id. (quoting State v. Stietz, 2017 WI 58, ¶15, 375 Wis. 2d 572, 895 N.W.2d 796). Our supreme court has described this benchmark as a "low bar," which is met even if the evidence is "weak, insufficient, inconsistent, or of doubtful credibility." Id. (citations omitted).

In addition, a court's failure "to instruct on an issue which is raised by the evidence is error." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Weeks*, 165 Wis. 2d 200, 208, 477 N.W.2d 642 (Ct. App. 1991)).

2. Ineffective assistance of counsel.

A criminal defendant in Wisconsin is guaranteed the constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel through the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, sec. 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); State v. Domke, 2011 WI 95, ¶34, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364.

To establish a deprivation of effective representation, a defendant must demonstrate that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) counsel's errors or omissions prejudiced the defendant. Domke, 337 Wis. 2d 268, ¶33 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). Counsel's performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). To prove prejudice, a defendant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id., ¶20 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694).

"There is a 'strong presumption that [counsel's] conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance" *Domke*, 337 Wis. 2d 268, ¶36. "Reviewing courts should be 'highly deferential' to counsel's strategic decisions" *Id.* (citing *State v*.

Carter, 2010 WI 40, \P 22, 324 Wis.2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695).

However, the strategy must be reasonable to receive such deference. See id., ¶¶36, 49. Reviewing courts "will not second-guess a reasonable trial strategy, but th[e] court may conclude that an attorney's performance was deficient if it was based on an 'irrational trial tactic' or 'based upon caprice rather than upon judgment." Id., ¶49. Courts should not "ratify a lawyer's decision merely by labeling it . . . a matter of choice and of trial strategy." State v. Felton, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983) (internal quotation omitted). "[A]n attorney's decisions are not immune from examination simply because they are deemed tactical"; the question is whether the tactic was objectively reasonable. United States ex rel. Hampton v. Leibach, 347 F.3d 219, 249 (7th Cir. 2003).

Questions of ineffective assistance of counsel present a mixed question of law and fact. *Id.*, ¶21 (citing *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶19, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801). The reviewing court will defer to the circuit court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Whether trial counsel's performance was deficient as a matter of law is a question the court reviews de novo. *Id.*

Case 2022AP002012 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-24-2023 Page 24 of 45

- B. Trial counsel erred when he failed to pursue a self-defense instruction as to the disorderly conduct count.
 - 1. Defendants may claim self-defense when charged with disorderly conduct.

Self-defense was an available defense to Mr. Straight's disorderly conduct charge under the facts and circumstances. The definition of disorderly conduct is: "engag[ing] in violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud or otherwise disorderly conduct under circumstances in which the conduct tends to cause or provoke a disturbance." Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1). When a person threatens or intentionally uses force against another, it in many circumstances could be described as conduct that is "violent, abusive,... profane,... or otherwise disorderly...." See id.

In fact, the same course of conduct underlying a battery charge can also lead to a charge of disorderly conduct. The state brings charges of both battery and disorderly conduct for the same course of conduct in many cases, as it did here. See, e.g., State v. Kanarowski, 170 Wis. 2d 504, 489 N.W.2d 660 (Ct. App. 1992) (holding that the state charging a defendant with multiple counts, including one count of battery and one count of disorderly conduct, all arising from one incident, is not multiplicitous).

Battery involves "caus[ing] bodily harm to another by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person or another." Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1). Committing a battery, therefore, can also involve violent, abusive, otherwise disorderly conduct. It may also potentially include indecent, profane or boisterous behavior. Moreover, a battery can certainly be committed under circumstances in which the conduct tends to cause or provoke a disturbance, such as when others are present or may witness the conduct. Therefore, self-defense may be a defense to disorderly conduct, especially in cases in which the conduct underlying the charge also leads to a battery charge, or the conduct is violent, threatening, or abusive.

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