Page 1 of 23

FILED 04-03-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 4

Case No. 2022AP002012 Circuit Court Case No. 2021CM000202

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ROSS STRAIGHT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY, THE HONORABLE Craig R. Day, PRESIDING

## BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Anthony J. Pozorski Sr. Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1014070 Grant County District Attorney's Office 130 West Maple Street Lancaster, Wisconsin 53813 (608) 723-4237

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100, [37-39], 378 Wis. 2d 431, 454-455, the Court succinctly set forth the Standard of Review in cases alleging ineffective assistance of counsel when it stated:

"Under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, a criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel." [citation] The same right is guaranteed under Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Whether a defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact. [citation] The factual circumstances of the case and trial counsel's conduct and strategy are findings of fact, which will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous; whether counsel's conduct constitutes ineffective assistance is a question of law, which we review Id. To demonstrate that counsel's novo. de assistance was ineffective, the defendant must establish that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance was prejudicial. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the defendant fails to satisfy either prong, we need not consider the other. Id. at 697.

Whether trial counsel performed deficiently a question of law we review de novo. is establish that counsel's [citation] To performance was deficient, the defendant must show that it fell below "an objective standard of reasonableness." [citation]. In general, there is a strong presumption that trial counsel's "falls within the wide range of conduct reasonable professional assistance." [citation] Additionally, "[c]ounsel's decisions in choosing trial strategy are to be given great a deference." [citation]

Whether any deficient performance was prejudicial is also a question of law we review

de novo. [citation] To establish that deficient performance was prejudicial, the defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." [citation]

# RATIONAL BASIS

In State v. Felton, 110 Wis. 2d, 485, 501-503 (1983),

the Court stated,

Since Harper we have reiterated that trial counsel and the defendant may, on the basis of a considered judgment, select a particular defense from among the alternative defenses that are available. [citations] The defense selected need not be the one that by hindsight looks best to us.

This court has often stated that it disapproves of postconviction counsel secondguessing the trial counsel's considered selection of trial tactics or the exercise of a professional judgment in the face of alternatives that have been weighed by trial counsel. [citations]

Nevertheless, it is apparent that the prudent-lawyer standard adopted in *Harper* implies that there be conduct that is more than just acting upon a whim. It implies deliberateness, caution, and circumspection. It is substantially the equivalent of the exercise of discretion; and accordingly, it must be based upon a knowledge of all facts and all the law that may be available. The decision must evince reasonableness under the circumstances.

Consistent with the express language of *Harper*, a prudent lawyer must be "skilled and versed" in the criminal law. The prudent-lawyer standard requires that strategic or tactical decisions must be based upon rationality founded

Page 15 of 23

on the facts and the law. If tactical or strategic decisions are made on such a basis, this court will not find that those decisions constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, even though by hindsight we are able to conclude that an inappropriate decision was made or that a more appropriate decision could have been made. Thus, when we look to a lawyer's conduct and measure it against this court's standard to determine effectiveness, we cannot ratify a lawyer's decision merely by labeling it, as did the trial court, "a matter of choice and of trial strategy." We must consider the law and the existed when trial counsel's facts as they conduct occurred.

Attorney Frank is skilled and versed in the criminal law. He was trying cases and asserting the Self-Defense defense since about the time the defendant was born and had the Self-Defense defense in hundreds of cases (R. 72, p. 12). Attorney Frank exercised deliberateness, caution and circumspection, and was not just acting upon a whim when he decided not to pursue a Self-Defense defense. Attorney Frank testified that with the Self-Defense defense, a person is allowed to terminate the interference, but is not allowed to retaliate (R. 72, p. 10). Attorney Frank is distinction between Self-Defense correct. The and retaliation is almost as old as the hills and bluffs in Grant County. In Shields v. State, 187 Wis. 448. (1925), a Boscobel (in Grant County) Police Officer tried to unmask a member of the Ku Klux Klan during a parade. After being struck by another member of the Klan, the police officer

pulled his revolver and tried to shoot a person. The gun misfired and the officer was charged with Assault with Intent to do Great Bodily Harm. In *Shields*, 187 Wis., at p. 453, the Court stated,

There is evidence to indicate that when the defendant recovered from the staggering effects of the blow and pulled his revolver he did not know who his assailant really was, but he merely happened to aim it at Flesch. If this be true it does not indicate that he pulled his revolver in good faith or in the belief that his personal safety was in jeopardy. It is unnecessary to dwell further upon the evidence. It furnishes abundant support for the conclusion that the defendant did not pull his revolver because of an apprehension reasonably entertained by him that either his life or his personal safety was in jeopardy. A simple assault does not justify retaliation with dangerous weapons."

In State v. Jones, 179 Or. 636, 638, (1946), the Court stated,

The defendant had the right to repel force with force, but he could not under the guise of selfdefense become an aggressor. If the evidence offered on behalf of the state is true-and for the purposes of this appeal it must be assumed to be so-defendant had no reasonable ground to believe that Haffner-with his arms pinioned behind him-would endanger his life or cause him bodily harm."

Attorney Frank had the correct, and therefore a rational, view of the law and of the evidence. Consistent with *Felton*, since Attorney Frank's strategic and tactical decisions were rationally based on the facts and the law,

his decisions should not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### STRATEGY

Attorney Frank testified that there is more than one potential defense to most of these charges and that he has learned not to do the shotgun approach because asserting multiple defenses doesn't work with juries. (R. 72, pp. 12-13)

There is nothing unreasonable or irrational about Attorney Frank's conclusions regarding the preferences of juries. Everyone recognizes that these types of cases often raise the possibility of multiple defenses and that the available defenses are not mutually exclusive. But arguing to the jury one defense, such as C.G. caused the disturbance and telling the jury if they don't care for that one, then the defense argues Self-Defense, conjures up the image the shyster who argues to the jury, "My client doesn't even own a German Shepard and if she does, Fritz wasn't even outside and if Fritz was outside, he feels really bad and will never bite anyone ever again."

There is nothing irrational about picking the strongest defense. Attorney Frank did so and obtained acquittals for the defendant on the charges of Disorderly Conduct involving D.C. (Count 1) and Battery (Count 3).

## AVALIABLITY OF SELF-DEFENSE

Eric Brechler testified that Michael Straight became enraged, spun C.G. around, flipped her onto the ground, took the knife away from her, straddled her, held the knife or machete to her throat and then raised the machete above his head with his hands on the handle and the point towards C.G. Eric Brechler testified that he yelled at Michael Straight and came storming off the porch to prevent anything more serious from happening. (R. 52, pp. 155-157)

Michael Straight testified that C.G. walked up to him, (R. 52, p. 191), that he feared for his life and thought that he was going to be severely harmed, (R. 52, pp. 193-194), that C.G. hit him in the shoulder with the machete, (R. 52, p. 192), that she swung at him, (R. 52, p. 192), that they went to the ground, (R. 52, p. 192), and that after he took the knife away from C.G., he gave it back to her. (R. 52., p. 194)

In State v. Olsen, 99 Wis. 2d 572 (Ct. App. 1980), the Trial Court, Grant County Circuit Judge William L. Reinecke, presiding in that Vernon County case, declined to give a Self-Defense Instruction in a Disorderly Conduct case. In Olsen, 99 Wis. 2d, at 580, the Court of Appeals stated,

The state did not claim that defendant used Defendant and his codefendants emphasized force. that they did not resist arrest and that they all times during their peaceful at were In the absence of an allegation demonstration. or evidence that defendant used force, the trial court was correct in ruling that the defenses of self-defense and defense of others were not available to defendant.

Michael Straight testimony was significantly different then Eric Brechler's testimony. While Eric Brechler testified that he saw Michael Straight take the knife or machete away, hold it to C.G.'s throat and then raise it over C.G., Michael Straight testified that after he took the machete away from C.G., he simply gave it back to her. Under those circumstances, a Self-Defense Jury Instruction would have undermined Michael Straight's testimony.

Michael Straight could argue during this appeal that he used force by flopping C.G. to the ground and disarming her, but it would have been impractical at trial for him to argue that he didn't put the knife to C.G's throat and hold it above her in an apparent windup to stabbing her and then argue that if he did do that, he was acting in Self-Defense. Furthermore, it would have been almost impossible for Judge Day to instruct the jury and it would have been confusing for the jury to dissect the facts and the Self-Defense Instruction so that the Defense could be applied to flopping C.G. to the ground and disarming her, but not to

Page 20 of 23

putting the knife to her throat and raising the knife in apparent prelude to the coup de grace.

## NO PREJUDICE

As Strickland and Breitzman point out, the defense must demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient and that the performance prejudiced the defendant. Not only was Attorney Frank's performance not deficient, but his performance certainly did not prejudice Michael Straight.

The State presented evidence that Michael Straight was yelling at a stranger and threatened to cut his brake lines. Attorney Frank secured acquittal or Michael Straight on that charge. The State presented evidence that Michael Straight committed a Battery against C.G. Attorney Frank secured acquittal for Michael Straight on that charge.

How would a Self-Defense Jury Instruction have benefited a defendant who denied putting a machete to C.G.'s throat and then holding the machete over the top of her, in a highly charged situation, with the point aimed at the victim? Not only would it have been non-sensical for Attorney Frank to argue Self-Defense for a defendant who denied putting a machete to the victim's throat and then holding it over the

top of her, but Michael Straight has not proven or demonstrated at this point that Judge Day would have given the Self-Defense Instruction for the jury to consider in connection with the defendant's denial of those facts. Michael Straight has also not proven that if a Self-Defense Jury Instruction had been given with respect to Count 2, the jury would have probably found him not guilty of that count.

Furthermore, a shotgun approach could very well have been a bridge to far. An overreach by Attorney Frank could have undermined his credibility with the jury which could have resulted in convictions on one or both of the other charges.

#### CONCLUSION

Attorney Frank understood the law, the facts and how best to navigate the tetras waters of a criminal prosecution. He steered Michael Straight's ship clear of two convictions. Attorney Frank did not provide ineffective assistance with counsel to Michael Straight. Attorney Frank's assistance should be commended, not attacked.